1993

Utah v. Squire : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Utah Code Ann., § 77-1-6(g), Rule 26 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure and by Rule 3(a), of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues which are presented for review are as follows:

1. Whether the Sixth Judicial District Court erred in admitting evidence before the jury of a prior misdemeanor conviction despite the objections of the Defendant, Michael Squire, and the prohibition of Utah Code Annotated, § 76-2-303(6); and

2. Whether the Sixth Judicial District Court erred in refusing to give the instructions to the jury proposed by the Defendant, Michael Squire, upon the issues raised by his defense of entrapment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review upon the appeal is that upon review proper deference is given to the trial court's rulings, conclusions or interpretations and findings of the jury; nevertheless, they are not to be regarded as so infallible as to be beyond the possibility of error and the appellate court is free to render it's independent interpretation and review for correctness. State v. Kourbelas, 621 P.2d 1238 (Utah 1980).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

Utah Code Annotated, § 76-2-303(6):

In any hearing before a judge or jury where the defense of entrapment is an issue, past offenses of the defendant shall not be admitted except that in a trial where the defendant testifies he may be asked of his past convictions for felonies and any testimony given by the defendant at a hearing on entrapment may be used to impeach his testimony at trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of Utah, on the 30th day of November, 1992, filed a criminal information in the Sixth Judicial District Court for Sanpete County within the State of Utah against the Defendant, Michael Squire, charging him with, "DISTRIBUTION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, a Third Degree Felony."

On the 27th day of January, 1993, a preliminary hearing was held before the trial court and the Defendant, Michael Squire, was bound over for trial.

On the 23rd day of June, 1993, a trial by jury was held before the Sixth Judicial District Court for Sanpete County within the State of Utah. The Honorable Don V. Tibbs presided over the trial.

On the 23rd day of June, 1993, the jury returned it's verdict of guilty and the Defendant, Michael Squire, was held for sentencing.

On the 10th day of November, 1993, the trial court entered it's Judgement and Order sentencing the Defendant upon the offense of Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Third Degree Felony.

On the 24th day of November, 1993, the Defendant, Michael Squire, filed his Notice of Appeal in the Sixth Judicial District Court for the County of Sanpete within the State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the 29th day of April, 1992, Michael Squire entered a plea of guilty to Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Class A Misdemeanor, and was on supervised probation with Adult Probation and Parole on the 23rd day of June, 1993. He was 18 years old at the time. (Tr. 270-271 & 279).

In February, 1992, Sanpete County Sheriff Deputy Jon Cox hired a paid confidential informant, Mr. Barson, to conduct drug busts. (Tr. 117 & 126).

Mr. Barson would take his future wife, Linda Alder, who he was dating at the time, from between 10 to 25 parties in the Manti, Utah area. (Tr. 127-133).

While attending these parties the future Mrs. Barson often met the Defendant, Michael Squire, a friend and often spoke with him at these parties. (Tr. 127 & 132).

The Defendant, Michael Squire, was dating Stacey Alder, the sister of Linda Alder, at the time. (Tr. 263).

At a party in Manti canyon, where Mr. Barson and Stacey Alder were present, Linda Alder and the Defendant, Michael Squire, went up into the trees together for some time. When Linda Alder and the Michael Squire returned to the party from the trees Mr. Barson and Stacey Alder were angry at the Defendant and Linda Alder. (Tr. 263- 264).

The next week at another party in Manti canyon Michael Squire, Linda Alder, Stacey Alder and Brian Barson were present. Brian Barson, his future wife, Linda Alder, and her sister, Stacey

Alder exhibited hostility to Michael Squire. (Tr. 264-266).

At the many parties which followed Brian Barson, the confidential informant employed by Deputy Jon Cox to make drug buys, made several prior attempts to induce the Defendant, Michael Squire, to purchase marijuana for him and the Defendant had refused. (Tr. 220-239, 241-250 & 266-268).

Deputy Jon Cox and Brian Barson prior to the transaction had several conversations about the Defendant, Michael Squire. (Tr. 200-201). Deputy Cox had been interested in "catching" the Defendant for over five years and had harbored ill feelings toward the Defendant and his family. (Tr. 203-204, 206-214 & 258-261).

On the 19th day of April, 1992, the Michael Squire agreed to purchase a small amount of marijuana for Mr. Barson. Mr. Squire did not have any marijuana and had to travel to Salt Lake City, Utah to purchase the same amount that Barson had arranged to buy. The Defendant had not transferred marijuana to any other person before nor after the transaction resulting in the charging of the present crime. (Tr. 102 & 267).

The State of Utah, on the 30th day of November, 1992, filed a criminal information in the Sixth Judicial District Court for Sanpete County within the State of Utah against the Defendant, Michael Squire, charging him with, "DISTRIBUTION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, a Third Degree Felony."

On the 27th day of January, 1993, a preliminary hearing was held before the trial court and the Defendant, Michael Squire, was bound over for trial.

On the 23rd day of June, 1993, a trial by jury was held before the Sixth Judicial District Court for Sanpete County within the State of Utah. The Honorable Don V. Tibbs presided over the trial. (Tr. 1).

The trial court during the trial admitted evidence, over objection, of the prior conviction of the Defendant, Michael Squire, for Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Class A Misdemeanor. (Tr. 269-280).

The trial court refused to give the Defendant's proposed instructions to the jury on the issue of entrapment and gave an instruction which was misleading to the jury. (Tr. 293-295).

On the 23rd day of June, 1993, the jury returned it's verdict of guilty and the Defendant, Michael Squire, was held for sentencing. (Tr. 318).

On the 10th day of November, 1993, the trial court entered it's Judgement and Order sentencing the Defendant upon the offense of Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Third Degree Felony.

On the 24th day of November, 1993, the Defendant, Michael Squire, filed his Notice of Appeal in the Sixth Judicial District Court for the County of Sanpete within the State of Utah.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court committed a prejudicial error when it admitted into evidence over objection testimony regarding the Defendant's prior conviction for Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Class A Misdemeanor.

The trial court committed prejudicial error when it failed to give the Defendant's proposed entrapment instructions to the jury. The instruction on entrapment given the jury by the trial court was misleading and is an incorrect statement of the law.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR BY ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF A PRIOR MISDEMEANOR CONVICTION OF THE DEFENDANT, MICHAEL SQUIRE

On the 29th day of April, 1992, Michael Squire entered a plea of guilty to Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Class A Misdemeanor, and was on supervised probation with Adult Probation and Parole on the 23rd day of June, 1993. He was 18 years old at the time. (Tr. 270-271 & 279).

The State of Utah, on the 30th day of November, 1992, filed a criminal information in the Sixth Judicial District Court for Sanpete County within the State of Utah against the Defendant, Michael Squire, charging him with, "DISTRIBUTION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, a Third Degree Felony."

On the 23rd day of June, 1993, a trial by jury was held before the Sixth Judicial District Court for Sanpete County within the State of Utah. The Honorable Don V. Tibbs presided over the trial. (Tr. 1).

The trial court during the trial admitted evidence, over objection, of the prior conviction of the Defendant, Michael Squire, for Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Class A Misdemeanor. (Tr. 269-280).

Utah Code Annotated, § 76-2-303(6):

In any hearing before a judge or jury where the defense of entrapment is an issue, past offenses of the defendant shall not be admitted except that in a trial where the

defendant testifies he may be asked of his past convictions for felonies and any testimony given by the defendant at a hearing on entrapment may be used to impeach his testimony at trial.

The Defendant, Michael Squire, was entitled to be tried and have his guilt or innocence determined on the basis of the crime charged against him without the issue being confused by engendering prejudice against him by testimony concerning prior misdeeds or misconduct. State v. Hansen, 588 P.2d 164 (Utah 1978).

Although the State argued at trial that the Defendant's testimony that he had taken urinalysis testing opened the door to the admission of the testimony and evidence of the past conviction of Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a Class A Misdemeanor, such is not the case.

The Defendant did not testify that he was on supervised probation to Adult Probation and Parole, the agency which had performed the urinalysis testing. The Defendant did not testify as to his past criminal misdemeanor conviction or the circumstances surrounding that conviction.

The reference to urinalysis testing was testified to by Michael Squire to support his contention that he did not presently use marijuana or other drugs and did not do so at the time of the transaction which resulted in the filing of the felony distribution charge by the State of Utah.

Certainly, the State was not pursuing the line of questioning regarding the past conviction to show that the urinalysis testing performed by an agency of the State, Adult Probation and Parole, while the Defendant was on supervised

probation

were not performed properly. The State's intention was not to challenge the scientific basis nor the results of the urinalysis testing it had performed upon the Defendant.

The fact that the Defendant had undergone urinalysis testing does not, necessarily, lead to the conclusion that the State should be permitted to introduce evidence of a past misdemeanor conviction which resulted in the State's own urinalysis testing.

Hansen, id., argued by the State at trial as permitting the introduction of the prior conviction does not support the State's contention here. The Supreme Court of Utah, in Hansen, stated that the statute does not preclude that State from presenting any available evidence of the Defendant's intention to commit the crime with which he is charged.

The admission of the prior misdemeanor conviction of the Defendant was evidence that was directed specifically to the issue which was before the jury, the issue of entrapment. Our legislature has determined that evidence of prior misdemeanor convictions may engender prejudice against the Defendant by the jury by virtue of his prior misdeeds and has directed, by the enactment of Utah Code Annotated, § 76-2-303(6), that such evidence should not be admitted in a subsequent prosecution against the Defendant.

The trial court was in error and the jury was prejudiced

by the admission of evidence concerning Michael Squire's prior misdemeanor conviction of Attempted Distribution of a Controlled Substance. The conviction of the Defendant, Michael Squire, should be reversed.

**THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GIVEN THE DEFENDANT'S
PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING ENTRAPMENT AND REASONABLE DOUBT**

The Defendant requested the trial court give his proposed jury instructions to the jury prior to the submission of the case to the jury. The trial court refused to give the Defendant's proposed instructions and, instead, gave an entrapment instruction which tracks the entrapment defense statute. The instructions proposed by the Defendant are exhibit C, attached hereto as part of the Addendum.

The Defendant asserts, and asserted at trial, that the jury should have been instructed that if there existed a reasonable doubt as to whether the offense committed was the product of Michael Squire's initiative and desire then the jury must find the Defendant not guilty of distribution of a controlled substance. (Tr. 234). Moreover, the instructions proposed by the Defendant on the issue of entrapment properly focused the jury on the issue of whether the offense committed was the product of the defendant's initiative and desire, or was induced by the persistent requests of the police authority.

The evidence presented to support the Defendant's contention that he was entrapped supported the instructions

proposed by the Defendant. In February, 1992, Sanpete County Sheriff Deputy Jon Cox hired a paid confidential informant, Mr. Barson, to conduct drug busts. (Tr. 117 & 126).

Mr. Barson would take his future wife, Linda Alder, who he was dating at the time, from between 10 to 25 parties in the Manti, Utah area. (Tr. 127-133).

While attending these parties the future Mrs. Barson often met the Defendant, Michael Squire, a friend and often spoke with him at these parties. (Tr. 127 & 132).

The Defendant, Michael Squire, was dating Stacey Alder, the sister of Linda Alder, at the time. (Tr. 263).

At a party in Manti canyon, where Mr. Barson and Stacey Alder were present, Linda Alder and the Defendant, Michael Squire, went up into the trees together for some time. When Linda Alder and the Michael Squire returned to the party from the trees Mr. Barson and Stacey Alder were angry at the Defendant and Linda Alder. (Tr. 263- 264).

The next week at another party in Manti canyon Michael Squire, Linda Alder, Stacey Alder and Brian Barson were present. Brian Barson, his future wife, Linda Alder, and her sister, Stacey Alder exhibited hostility to Michael Squire. (Tr. 264-266).

At the many parties which followed Brian Barson, the confidential informant employed by Deputy Jon Cox to make drug buys, made several prior attempts to induce the Defendant, Michael Squire, to purchase marijuana for him and the Defendant had refused. (Tr. 220-239, 241-250 & 266-268).

Deputy Jon Cox and Brian Barson prior to the transaction had several conversations about the Defendant, Michael Squire. (Tr. 200-201). Deputy Cox had been interested in "catching" the Defendant for over five years and had harbored ill feelings toward the Defendant and his family. (Tr. 203-204, 206-214 & 258-261).

On the 19th day of April, 1992, the Michael Squire agreed to purchase a small amount of marijuana for Mr. Barson. Mr. Squire did not have any marijuana and had to travel to Salt Lake City, Utah to purchase the same amount that Barson had arranged to buy. The Defendant had not transferred marijuana to any other person before nor after the transaction resulting in the charging of the present crime. (Tr. 102 & 267).

In State v. Kourbelas, the Supreme Court of Utah stated:

But it is, of course, not a proper function of law enforcement officers, either themselves or by the use of undercover agents or decoys, to induce persons who otherwise would be law abiding into the commission of a crime....

It is our opinion that, if the rule as to the presumption of innocence is fairly and properly applied, there necessarily exists a reasonable doubt as to whether the offense committed was the product of the defendant's initiative and desire, or was induced by the persistent requests of Mr. Nelson.

The Defendant asserts that the jury should have been instructed upon the issue of reasonable doubt as to whether the crime committed was a product of the defendant's own initiative and desire or the persistent efforts of the police authority to induce him or create a substantial risk that he would commit the crime with which the state would charge him. State v. Sprague, 680 P.2d 404 (Utah 1984); State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d 496 (Utah 1979);

State v. Wright, 744 P.2d 315 (Utah App. 1987); State v. Belt, 780 P.2d 1271 (Utah App. 1989); and State v. Cripps, 692 P.2d 747 (Utah 1984). The instruction on entrapment given by the trial court did not raise the issue of reasonable doubt as to whether the police authority induced the Defendant, Michael Squire, to commit the crime which he was charged with.