1993

## Utah v. Squire : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Cross-examination on prior conviction. The trial court properly allowed the State to cross-examine defendant about his prior conviction for attempted distribution. First, subsection 6 to § 76-2-303 only prohibits the State from introducing evidence of prior convictions in its case in chief to show defendant's predisposition to sell drugs; it does not preclude the use of that evidence to address issues raised by defendant. Second, even if the trial court did err by admitting the evidence, defendant led the court into that error and therefore cannot rely on it as a basis for reversal. Finally, this court may affirm the trial court's decision on the alternative basis that the

evidence of defendant's prior conviction was admissible to attack his credibility.

2. Jury instructions. The trial court properly instructed the jury on defendant's entrapment defense; therefore, the trial court's refusal to give defendant's proposed instructions does not constitute an abuse of discretion warranting reversal. Alternatively, even if it would have been appropriate for the trial court to include in its instructions language requiring the jury to consider whether defendant sold Mr. Barson drugs as a result of defendant's own initiative or desire, the failure to do so did not affect the outcome in this case. The evidence precluded any reasonable likelihood that the jury would have believed that Mr. Barson's conduct induced defendant to sell him marijuana.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PERMITTED THE STATE TO CROSS-EXAMINE DEFENDANT ABOUT HIS PRIOR CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED DISTRIBUTION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE BECAUSE DEFENDANT REPEATEDLY ASSERTED THAT HE WAS NOT A DRUG DEALER AND THAT HE NO LONGER USED MARIJUANA

Defendant supported his defense in part by offering evidence of his good character. Through his own testimony, the testimony of his witnesses, and his counsel's statements to the jury, defendant repeatedly asserted that he no longer used marijuana and denied that he had been a drug dealer or had ever sold drugs prior to this transaction (Tr. 80, 85-87, 230, 233-35, 252-53, 261-62, 269).

In support of his claim that he no longer used marijuana, defendant volunteered that he had frequent urine drug screens that always came back negative (Tr. 261). When the prosecutor began to question defendant about why he was having the drug screens, defendant's counsel asked to discuss the line of questioning outside the jury's presence (Tr. 269-70). Defendant's counsel then objected to allowing the State to cross-examine defendant about his previous guilty plea to a charge of attempted distribution -- the drug screens were a condition of probation for the prior conviction -- arguing that subsection 6 of § 76-2-303 precluded admission of that evidence.<sup>2</sup> The State responded that it was entitled to introduce the evidence because defendant had opened the door by testifying about the urine drug screens, and because it was admissible under State v. Hansen, 588 P.2d 164 (Utah 1978) to rebut defendant's entrapment evidence. The trial court allowed the State to question defendant about the prior offense, relying on both bases argued by the State. (Tr. 270-77.) (Transcript pages 270-77 are attached as addendum C.)

---

<sup>2</sup> Subsection 6 reads as follows:

(6) In any hearing before a judge or jury where the defense of entrapment is an issue, past offenses of the defendant shall not be admitted except that in a trial where the defendant testifies he may be asked of his past convictions for felonies and any testimony given by the defendant at a hearing on entrapment may be used to impeach his testimony at trial.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-303(6) (1990).

- A. The trial court properly allowed the State to cross-examine defendant about his prior conviction for attempted distribution of a controlled substance to rebut evidence defendant introduced in support of his entrapment defense.

In Utah, "[e]ntrapment occurs when a law enforcement officer or a person directed by or acting in cooperation with the officer induces the commission of an offense in order to obtain evidence of the commission for prosecution by methods creating a substantial risk that the offense would be committed by one not otherwise ready to commit it." Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-303 (1990). This definition requires applying an objective standard in determining the validity of an entrapment defense. State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d 496, 499-503 (Utah 1979). The defendant's predisposition to commit the crime, a relevant consideration under the rejected subjective standard, has no relevance to this inquiry; therefore, subsection 6 precludes the use of prior offenses to avoid consideration of a defendant's predisposition. Id. at 503.

However, subsection 6 does not raise an absolute bar to introducing evidence of prior convictions. In State v. Hansen, 588 P.2d 164 (Utah 1978), the Utah Supreme Court reversed the defendant's conviction because the State introduced evidence of his other wrongs in its case in chief. Id. at 166-67. However, the court went on to state that once defendant had introduced the issue of entrapment, subsection 6 did not preclude the State from introducing any evidence necessary to address that issue. Although Hansen preceded Taylor and presumed a subjective inquiry

in considering an entrapment defense, the fundamental reasoning of Hansen still controls: once a defendant introduces an issue into the trial, subsection 6 does not operate to preclude the State from introducing evidence of prior convictions to address it.

In this case, subsection 6 precluded the State from using defendant's prior conviction for attempted distribution in its case in chief to establish his predisposition to sell drugs. However, once defendant introduced the issues of his urine drug screens and his prior drug sales, he could not cry foul when the State sought to explain and rebut his evidence, and subsection 6 does not require a different result. See also State v. Green, 578 P.2d 512, 514 (Utah 1978) (if a defendant "offers himself as a witness, he then becomes subject to being treated the same as any other witness," which includes being cross-examined on anything that "would tend to contradict, explain or cast doubt upon the credibility of his testimony"). Therefore, the trial court properly allowed the State to cross-examine defendant about his prior conviction.

Moreover, even if this court finds that the trial court erroneously permitted the cross-examination, defendant invited that error and therefore cannot rely on it as a basis for reversal. Although § 76-2-303 would normally preclude inquiry into defendant's predisposition to sell drugs, defendant, not the State, introduced the issue of his predisposition to sell drugs. By supporting his entrapment defense with testimony that he no

longer used marijuana and that he was not and never had been a drug dealer, defendant invoked the subjective entrapment standard by asserting, in effect, that he had no predisposition to sell the marijuana he sold to Mr. Barson. He only sought the protection of the objective test for entrapment when it would have prevented the State from rebutting his predisposition evidence. Section 76-2-303 directs the fact finder's attention away from a defendant's predisposition to commit the crime. However, where a defendant introduces evidence of his lack of predisposition, § 76-2-303 does not preclude the State from rebutting that evidence. Because defendant created any error in the first place, he cannot rely on it as a basis for reversal. State v. Dunn, 850 P.2d 1201, 1220 (Utah 1993) ("a party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing that error"); State v. Barney, 681 P.2d 1230, 1231 n.3 (Utah 1984) (the defendant cannot complain about evidence of his prior bad acts elicited by his own counsel's cross-examination of the State's witness) (citing State v. Hansen, 588 P.2d 164 (Utah 1978)).

- B. Alternatively, the trial court properly permitted the State to cross-examine defendant about his prior conviction in order to attack his credibility.

Finally, an alternative basis exists for upholding the trial court's decision on this issue: the trial court properly allowed the State to cross-examine defendant about his prior conviction

to attack his credibility.<sup>3</sup> State v. Reed, 820 P.2d 479 (Utah App. 1991). At the same time defendant presented evidence of his good character to support his entrapment defense, he attacked the character of the State's witnesses. Defendant claimed that Mr. Barson frequently used marijuana and drank heavily at the parties they attended (Tr. 220-21, 225, 227-28, 243-46), and that both Officer Cox and Mr. Barson singled him out for investigation because they had individual, personal grudges against him (Tr. 80-82, 83-85, 206-13, 258-61, 262-64).

In addition to his character evidence, defendant supported his entrapment defense by claiming that Mr. Barson repeatedly and incessantly requested that he acquire drugs for him and even asked defendant's friends to prevail upon defendant to do so (Tr. 85-87, 221-30, 233-35, 241-49, 252-53, 261, 265-68). Defendant specifically denied ever offering to sell marijuana to Mr. Barson (Tr. 266-68). The State's evidence contradicted defendant's. Mr. Barson testified that defendant solicited the sale, not the other way around (Tr. 97-98, 141). Both Mr. Barson and Officer Cox denied that they held grudges against defendant or that they had singled him out for investigation (Tr. 93-94, 126-32, 133-35, 141, 170-71, 202).

In State v. Reed, as in this case, the defendant's evidence directly contradicted the State's, the defendant attacked the

---

<sup>3</sup> Although the trial court did not rely on this basis for admitting the testimony, this court "may affirm the trial court's decision to admit evidence on any proper grounds, even though the trial court assigned another reason for its ruling." State v. Gray, 717 P.2d 1313, 1316 (Utah 1986) (citation omitted).



character of the State's witness while presenting his character in a favorable light, and the defendant denied using drugs. Id. at 481. On appeal, this court upheld the trial court's decision to introduce testimony that police found drug paraphernalia in the defendant's apartment because it impeached defendant's credibility. Id. at 482.<sup>4</sup>

Similarly, defendant in this case offered evidence of his good character to support his defense, repeatedly asserting both that he did not use marijuana and that he had never been a drug dealer. Having done so, he cannot complain because the trial court allowed the State to cross-examine him about his prior conviction for attempted distribution in order to rebut the credibility of his character evidence. Id. at 481-82. See also State v. Green, 578 P.2d at 513-14 (in a prosecution on two charges of selling narcotics, testimony about defendant selling drugs on occasions other than those charged was properly admissible where defendant claimed he was not a drug dealer). Additionally, defendant's evidence directly contradicted the State's. Therefore, credibility became a crucial issue, and the State was entitled to introduce evidence suggesting that defendant had lied about his prior dealings in drugs in order to

---

<sup>4</sup> This court also rejected the defendant's claim that the trial court should have excluded the evidence under rule 403, Utah Rules of Evidence, holding that "[i]t would be a mockery of our justice system to allow a defendant to take the stand and testify as to his own good character while impugning the character of an opposing witness, and then claim that his testimony is not subject to cross-examination because such inquiry would be too prejudicial." Id.

attack his credibility generally. State v. Reed, 820 P.2d at 481-82.

The record clearly establishes that the State used defendant's conviction for no other purpose than to attack the credibility of his statement that he was not a drug dealer. After cross-examining defendant about his prior conviction, the State made only one other reference to it. In his closing argument, the prosecutor made the following comment:

"[Defendant] says he's not a drug dealer. He has a conviction, a drug conviction, besides the one we're here dealing on today" (Tr. 301). Subsection 6 of § 76-2-303 does not preclude cross-examining defendant about his prior convictions in order to attack his credibility. The subsection's purpose is to preclude offering evidence of predisposition. State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d at 503. Allowing evidence of prior convictions to attack credibility does not thwart that purpose, and the State used defendant's prior conviction only to attack his credibility.

For all of the reasons stated above, the trial court properly permitted the State to cross-examine defendant about his prior conviction. In any event, even if the trial court erred, defendant created the error and therefore cannot rely on it as a basis for reversal.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT'S ENTRAPMENT INSTRUCTION PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY AS TO THE ELEMENTS OF THE DEFENSE; THEREFORE, THE COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS.

A trial court's decision not to give a requested jury instruction presents a question of law reviewed for correctness. State v. Gallegos, 849 P.2d 586, 588 (Utah App. 1993). However, the trial court has discretion to select between accurate, but different instructions. Id. Defendant has not shown that the trial court committed reversible error by rejecting his proposed instructions.

A. Defendant has preserved his appellate claim only as to his proposed instruction nos. 4 and 7.

At the outset, it is necessary to define the scope of the claim defendant has preserved for appeal.<sup>5</sup> Defendant originally submitted ten proposed entrapment instructions. However, when the court and counsel discussed the instructions, defendant specifically stated only that the trial court should give his instruction nos. 4 and 7,<sup>6</sup> and that he did not have any other objections to the instructions. Therefore, defendant waived any challenge that the failure to give the other eight instructions was error. See State v. Medina, 738 P.2d 1021, 1023 (Utah 1987)

---

<sup>5</sup> On appeal, defendant has not identified with specificity which of his proposed jury instructions he claims the trial court should have given. He only identifies the general substance of what he believes the instructions should have included.

<sup>6</sup> It is not clear whether defendant wanted these instructions given in addition to or instead of the trial court's entrapment instruction.

(where counsel read and affirmatively represented that she had no objection to a proposed jury instruction, defendant had affirmatively waived any challenge to that instruction, even under a manifest injustice analysis).

**B. The trial court's entrapment instruction accurately defined the defense for the jury.**

The trial court's entrapment instruction repeated the statutory definition of that defense (R. 67).<sup>7</sup> Therefore, the trial court accurately instructed the jury on defendant's theory of the case. State v. Cripps, 692 P.2d 747, 748-49 (Utah 1984) ("[t]his Court has approved giving the statutory definition of entrapment to the jury") (dicta, citation omitted).

Because the trial court accurately instructed the jury, it did not abuse its discretion by refusing to give defendant's requested instructions.<sup>8</sup> State v. Gallegos, 849 P.2d 586, 590

---

<sup>7</sup> The court's instruction reads as follows:

You are hereby instructed that it is a defense that the actor was entrapped into committing the offense. Entrapment occurs when a law enforcement officer or person directed by or acting in cooperation with the officer induces the commission of an offense in order to obtain evidence of the commission for prosecution by methods creating a substantial risk that the offense would be committed by one not otherwise ready to commit it. Conduct merely affording a person an opportunity to commit an offense does not constitute entrapment.

The defense is available even though the actor denies commission of the conduct charged to constitute the offense

(R. 67).

Defendant's proposed instruction no. 4 reads as follows:

If you find that there is reasonable doubt as to whether the offense committed was the product of Michael

(Utah App. 1993) ("Our inquiry therefore must center on the jury instruction actually used and determine whether it accurately states the law. So long as the jury instruction used was accurate, it was not error for the trial court to refuse a different instruction that was also accurate."). This court need not even consider whether defendant's proposed instructions were accurate or even preferable to the one given. State v. Pedersen, 802 P.2d 1328, 1331-32 (Utah App. 1990), cert. denied, 815 P.2d 241 (Utah 1991). Therefore, defendant has not and cannot establish that the refusal to give his proposed instructions constituted an abuse of discretion warranting reversal.<sup>9</sup>

- C. The trial court's refusal to include in its instructions what defendant claims on appeal it should have did not affect the outcome.

---

Squire's initiative and desire then you must find Michael Squire not guilty of the offense of distribution of a controlled substance

(R. 27). His proposed instruction no. 7 reads as follows:

In evaluation [sic] the course of conduct between the government representative and Michael Squire, the transactions leading up to the offense, the interaction between the agent and Michael Squire, and the response [sic] to the inducements or persuasion of the police agent are all to be considered in judging what the effect of the governmental agent's conduct would be on a normal person

(R. 30).

<sup>9</sup> Although the State maintains that defendant has only preserved this claim with respect to his proposed instructions 4 and 7, the State's argument on the merits would dispose of any claim based on the failure to give any of defendant's other eight proposed instructions. That is, the trial court accurately instructed the jury on defendant's entrapment defense; therefore, it did not err by not giving any of defendant's proposed instructions.

On appeal, defendant claims that the "jury should have been instructed upon the issue of reasonable doubt as to whether the crime committed was a product of the defendant's own initiative and desire or the persistent efforts of the police authority to induce him or create a substantial risk that he would commit the crime with which the state would charge him." Appellant's Brief at 13 (emphasis added). Even if these consideration would have been appropriate, the failure to include them does not undermine confidence in the outcome. Therefore, it does not warrant reversal. Utah R. Crim. P. 30(a) (1994) ("Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect the substantial rights of a party shall be disregarded"); State v. Knight, 734 P.2d 913, 919-20 (Utah 1987) (an error does not warrant reversal unless it undermines the reviewing court's confidence in the outcome).

At trial, the State played a tape of the conversation when defendant gave Mr. Barson the marijuana. See addendum B. During that conversation, defendant boasted about the quality of the marijuana and the low price for which he obtained it, asked Mr. Barson to give him some of the marijuana, and told Mr. Barson that he could get more (Tr. 189-92). On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked defendant what he meant when he said that the marijuana was "good F'in Bud" (Tr. 286). Defendant responded that this statement was a "sales pitch" (Tr. 286). These unchallenged statements from defendant rebutted any inference that defendant went through with the sale only as a result of Mr.

Barson's alleged pestering: typically, only a sales person uses sales pitches. The refusal to include instructions that would have required the jury to consider whether the sale resulted from defendant's own initiative and desire does not affect the outcome of the case because the jury would not likely have concluded otherwise. Therefore, it does not require reversal.